a			
S			

NOV 1 5 2013

IN THE

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

MAYRA ANTONIA ALVARADO and DYLAN HARBORD-MOORE,

Plaintiffs, Appellants and Petitioners,

VS.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Defendants and Respondents,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

From a decision of the California Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G047922

[Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 30-2008 0011611 The Honorable Robert J. Moss, Judge]

> Michael Maroko, Esq. (CASB# 62013) mmaroko@amglaw.com John S. West, Esq. (CASB# 102034) jwest@amglaw.com ALLRED, MAROKO & GOLDBERG 6300 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1500 Los Angeles, CA 90048 Phone: (323) 653-6530

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Before the State's Freeway Service Program ("FSP") was enacted, the California Tort Claims Act definition of "employee" rendered a public entity liable as the special employer of a negligent actor who, because of the public entity's power of supervision, is subject to dual employment. Published decisions had also applied the special employment doctrine to public entities prior to the enactment of the FSP. There is no FSP legislative history or other authority stating that the special employment doctrine is inapplicable to the California Highway Patrol ("CHP") in the context of the CHP's supervision of FSP tow truck drivers. Did the Court of Appeal err in holding that the presence of the term "employer" in FSP statutes evidences Legislative intent that the special employment doctrine not apply to CHP in the FSP context?
- 2. The FSP statutes contain an administrative definition of the term "employer." Those statutes also contain, but do not define, the term "employee." When a statute does not define a particular term, the common law definition of that term controls. The common law definition of "employee" includes a special employee. There is no FSP Legislative history or other authority expressing an intent to vary the common law definition of an"employee" in the FSP. Did the Court of Appeal err in

holding that the presence of the term "employer" in FSP statutes evidences a

Legislative intent that the CHP not be subject to tort liability for the

negligence of its special employee in the FSP context?

INTRODUCTION: WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Petitioners seek review of a published Opinion of the Court of Appeal (the "Opinion") regarding a legal issue of first impression and of statewide importance. That issue is whether the California Highway Patrol ("CHP") may be held liable as the special employer of a tow truck driver who, while under the undisputed supervision of the CHP, negligently performs duties in connection with the State's Freeway Service Patrol ("FSP") program.

The FSP was enacted to enable the CHP to fulfill statutory patrol responsibilities which are codified in statutes such as <u>California Vehicle</u>

<u>Code</u> § 2401 (providing that the CHP "shall make adequate provision for patrol of the highways at all times of the day and night") and <u>Vehicle Code</u>

Where an employer sends an employee to perform work for another person, and both have the right to exercise some control over the employee, the employee is deemed to have both an original "general" employer and a second, "special' employer. Kowalski v. Shell Oil Co., 23 Cal. 3d 168, 174-75, 588 P.2d 811, 814-15 (1979). Both a general and a special employer may be held liable for the employee's negligence where such had some control, not necessarily complete, over the employee, regardless of whether the control is actually exercised. Strait v. Hale Constr. Co., 26 Cal. App. 3d 941, 946, 103 Cal. Rptr. 487, 491 (1972).

§ 2435 (providing that the CHP "is responsible for rapid removal of impediments to traffic on highways within the state"). California Streets and Highways Code § 2560.5, contains the Legislature's recognition that in order for the CHP to perform its responsibilities for removal of traffic impediments, the CHP enters into FSP programs which are "a permanent part of the State's overall program to keep California's highway safe and free of traffic congestion." A related statute, Streets & Highways Code § 2561(c) defines the "Freeway Service Patrol" as "a program managed by the Department of the California Highway Patrol, the department, and a regional or local entity which provides emergency roadside assistance on a freeway in an urban area."

The underlying facts are simple. As noted in the Opinion, Petitioner Mayra Alvarado suffered disabling brain injuries, and her minor son Dylan Harbord-Moore was also injured, when Ms. Alvarado's car was rear-ended by a tow truck owned by California Coach and driven by an individual named Guzman.² At the time of the accident, Guzman was engaged in FSP patrol operations.

² California Coach had contracted with the Orange County Transportation Authority ("OCTA") to patrol a particular "beat," or designated stretch of freeway, as part of the FSP Program.

Prior to the accident, the CHP had entered into a chain of agreements which resulted in the CHP having supervisory power over Guzman's day to day performance of FSP operations. Those agreements included (1) "FSP Statewide Guidelines" agreed among the CHP, OCTA and CalTrans, (2) the agreement between the CHP and the OCTA for OCTA participation in the FSP program, and (3) the agreement between California Coach and the OCTA for California Coach to participate in the FSP program.³

³ The "FSP Statewide Guidelines" among CHP, OCTA and CalTrans provide (1) that the "CHP is generally responsible for . . . supervision of the day to day FSP field operations," (2) that "the CHP is responsible for dispatching FSP vehicles", and (3) that CHP activities in the FSP are "to include supervising FSP field operations." The written agreement between the CHP and the OCTA controlling the OCTA's participation in the FSP provides (1) that the CHP is responsible for "performing necessary daily project field supervision, program management and the oversight of the quality of the contractor services," (2) that "authority for FSP derives from (A) section 2435(A) of the California Vehicle Code which allows FSP trucks supervised by the CHP to stop on freeways . . . ", and (3) that "[t]here may be some instances where FSP drivers may be requested to lend assistance to CHP officers. FSP operators shall follow the instructions of the CHP officer at the scene of any incident within the scope of the Orange County FSP program. Operators must also follow instructions of the CHP officers that may be outside the scope of FSP service, but must advise dispatch first." The agreement between California Coach and the OCTA provides (1) that FSP tow trucks are "supervised by the CHP . . . "and (2) that "FSP operators shall follow the instructions of the CHP officer at the scene of any incident within the scope of the Orange County FSP program. Operators must also follow instructions of the CHP officers that may be outside the scope of FSP service, but must advise dispatch first."

In the underlying action, the CHP moved for summary judgment on the Petitioners claim that the supervisory powers vested in the CHP rendered the CHP liable as Guzman's special employer for their injuries. The Orange County Superior Court, relying upon, the various FSP-related agreements, the undisputed testimony of the California Coach driver, and the undisputed testimony of the CHP's "own Person Most Knowledgeable" regarding the CHP's role in the FSP, denied that motion. At the same time, the Superior Court issued a certification of this matter under California Code of Civil Procedure § 166.1 ("...a judge may indicate in any interlocutory order a belief that there is a controlling question of law as to which there are substantial grounds for difference of opinion ...").

The CHP sought mandamus regarding the denial of its summary judgment motion. After briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeal issued its Opinion, holding that despite the CHP's control over Guzman's performance of FSP duties, the CHP cannot, as a matter of law, be held liable to the petitioners as his special employer. A copy of the Opinion is attached as Exhibit "A" to this Petition.

⁴ This matter came before the Court of Appeal through a mandamus proceeding brought by the CHP after the Superior Court denied the CHP's motion for summary judgment on the issue of special employer liability.

The Opinion concedes that the FSP's legislative history is "quite short" and that it "mainly focuses on funding for the program and on allocating these funds." (Opinion at 5). In fact, there is nothing in the FSP, the Legislative history of the FSP, or case law which even remotely suggests either (1) Legislative intent that the CHP should not be liable as a special employer, or (2) Legislative intent that the general principles of the Tort Claims Act (California Government Code § 800 et seq.) should be inapplicable to the CHP in the FSP context.

Against that background of legislative silence, it is crucial to note that long before the FSP was enacted, California courts had recognized the principle of special employer liability, and had applied that doctrine to public entities.⁵ Similarly, long before the FSP was enacted, the Tort Claims Act permitted the imposition of special employer liability upon public entities.⁶ Since the "Legislature 'is deemed to be aware of statutes and judicial decisions already in existence, and to have enacted or amended a statute in light thereof," People v. McGuire (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 687.

⁵ See, <u>infra</u>, <u>Societa Per Azioni De Navigazione Italia v. City of Los Angeles</u> 31 Cal.3d 446, 461 [183 Cal.Rptr. 51, 60, 645 P.2d 102, 111] (1982). <u>In-Home Supportive Services v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.</u> 152 Cal.App.3d 720, 728 [199 Cal.Rptr. 697, 701] (1984).

⁶ See the discussion, <u>infra</u>, regarding California <u>Government Code</u> § 810.2 and the definition of the term "servant" under that statute.

694 [18 Cal.Rptr.2d 12, 15], it follows that the Legislature's silence on the issue of government tort liability evidences an intent not to modify existing law (i.e., governmental tort liability as a special employer). Yet, in this case the Court of Appeal concluded that existing law should be cast aside.

The Opinion does not dispute the Superior Court's finding that the Petitioners met the standards for imposing special employer liability upon the CHP. Nor did the Court of Appeal dispute the applicability of the special employment doctrine to public entities. Instead, the Court held for the first time that because the word "employee" appears in certain sections of the California Vehicle Code, the CHP "cannot as a matter of law be the special employer of a 'tow truck driver' . . . operating under the Freeway Service Patrol Act." (Opinion at 7).

As will be shown, the Court of Appeal's reliance upon the presence of the term "employer" in certain Vehicle Code statutes is misplaced. As used in the FSP statutes, that term is simply an administrative definition used to allocate administrative responsibilities associated with the program. See, e.g., Vehicle Code § 2430.5 (requiring an "employer" to obtain temporary certificates from tow truck drivers), Vehicle Code § 2430.3

⁷ "We are not called upon to determine whether [the FSP tow truck driver] was a special employee of the CHP at the time of the Alvarado accident." (Opinion at 4).

(requires FSP tow truck drivers to notify "employers" of an arrest or conviction . . . "), Vehicle Code § 2431 (procedures for background screening of tow truck drivers and "employers"), Vehicle Code § 2432.1 (allowing the CHP to suspend an "employer" who has fails to comply with FSP requirements), Vehicle Code § 2436.5 (requiring CHP "training . . . for all employers and tow truck drivers"), and Vehicle Code § 2436.7 (requiring every "[t]ow truck driver and employer, involved in a freeway service patrol operation" to attend training and that the "employer" to maintain related information).

As noted in the Opinion (at page 6), the FSP definition of an "employer," contained in Vehicle Code § 2430.1, is "essentially circular." On its face, that definition specifies that the CHP may contract for FSP towing services with two categories of providers, (1) "employers," who are defined in subsection (b) as "a person or organization that employs [tow truck drivers," or (2) "an owner-operator who performs the activity specified . . . and who is involved in freeway service patrol operations pursuant to an agreement or contract with a regional or local entity."

And, while the Opinion centers almost entirely on the presence of the term "employer" in FSP statutes, it omits the fact that FSP statutes also use, but do not define, the term "employee." Where a statute contains a term but

does not define that term, the common law definition of the term controls.

Metropolitan Water Dist. of Southern California v. Superior Court, 32

Cal.4th 491, 500, 9 Cal.Rptr.3d 857, 862-63, (2004) (common law definition of "employee" applied). Since there was, long before the FSP, a common law definition of both "employee" and "special employee," the absence of a definition for the term "employee" in the FSP must be deemed to be an expression of Legislative intent to maintain the common law definition, and thus to maintain the common law special employment doctrine.

In AB1248, the bill that gave rise to the FSP, the Legislature illustrated the statewide importance of the program. That bill declares that "(a) California's freeway service patrols are a critical element in the state's efforts to keep our freeways safe and operating efficiently[;] (b) Freeway service patrols provide an effective freeway congestion relief program on the state highway system." . . . (e) Since the state first implemented freeway service patrol programs on a demonstration basis in 1992, some 4.5 million motorists statewide have received assistance . . . "

Based upon the Legislatures own declarations, it follows that the Opinion in this matter leaves millions of motorists at risk of not receiving full compensation for injuries. The Opinion also undermines well

established principles of statutory construction, and therefore creates a risk of erroneous decisions in other cases.

Supreme Court review is needed to restore remedies to the many people whose remedies are at risk, to stabilize general principles of governmental tort liability and to avoid launching lines of erroneous analysis that may migrate into other areas of statutory interpretation.

BACKGROUND

(A) The Petitioners were injured by the negligence of a tow truck driver engaged in Freeway Service Patrol ("FSP") activities.

The Petitioners are Mayra Alvarado ("Ms. Alvarado") and her minor son Dylan Harbord-Moore ("Dylan"). While Ms. Alvarado was driving on the I-5 freeway, a tow truck owned by California Coach, and negligently driven by its employee Guzman, hit the rear of the car. The impact caused Ms. Alvarado to sustain disabling brain injuries. (Opinion at 2) At the time of the accident, the California Coach provided FSP patrol services under an agreement with the Orange County Transportation Authority ("OCTA"). (Opinion at 3).

///

⁸ Dylan, who was a passenger in his mother's car, was also injured.

(B) <u>Undisputed evidence of CHP control over the day to day</u> FSP activities of the negligent FSP tow truck driver.

As noted in the Introduction to this Petition, the CHP entered into a chain of agreements relating to the FSP program. Those agreements all provided for the CHP to exercise supervisory power over the day to day performance of FSP operations by tow truck drivers such as Guzman.

Although the Opinion touched upon the CHP's control over FSP operations (Opinion at 3), it did not consider the full extent of that control.

At the top of the chain stands the "FSP Statewide Guidelines" among CHP, OCTA and CalTrans. The Guidelines provide, inter alia, that the "CHP is generally responsible for . . . supervision of the day to day FSP field operations" In addition, the Guidelines specify that "the CHP is responsible for dispatching FSP vehicles," and that CHP activities in the FSP "include supervising FSP field operations."

There was also a written agreement between the CHP and the OCTA for OCTA to participate in the FSP. That agreement specifically provides that the CHP is responsible for "performing necessary daily project field supervision, program management and the oversight of the quality of the contractor services," It goes on to acknowledge that "authority for FSP derives from (A) section 2435(A) of the California Vehicle Code which

allows FSP trucks supervised by the CHP to stop on freeways . . . ," and that "[t]here may be some instances where FSP drivers may be requested to lend assistance to CHP officers. FSP operators shall follow the instructions of the CHP officer at the scene of any incident within the scope of the Orange County FSP program. Operators must also follow instructions of the CHP officers that may be outside the scope of FSP service, but must advise dispatch first."

California Coach, in turn, contracted with the OCTA to provide FSP patrol services on an I-5 "beat." The California Coach-OCTA agreement provides that FSP tow trucks are "supervised by the CHP . . . "and that "FSP operators shall follow the instructions of the CHP officer at the scene of any incident within the scope of the Orange County FSP program.

Operators must also follow instructions of the CHP officers that may be outside the scope of FSP service, but must advise dispatch first"

LEGAL DISCUSSION

(A) The Tort Claims Act allows a governmental entity to be held liable as the special employer of a negligent actor. Numerous cases have applied the doctrine to public entities.

In trial court proceedings and before the Court of Appeal, the
Petitioners argued (1) that the Tort Claims Act imposed special employer

liability upon public entities, and (2) that the CHP was liable for the Petitioners' injuries as the special employer of the negligent California Coach tow truck driver. The Petitioners relied upon the Tort Claims Act definition of an "employee" set forth in <u>Government Code</u> § 810.2, which includes an "employee, or servant, whether or not compensated, but does not include an independent contractor."

For purposes of § 810.2, the term "servant" as it appears in Government Code § 810.2 has been defined to include special employees and individuals with dual employers. In this regard, California has adopted Restatement of Agency § 220 as its definition of the term "servant" in the governmental tort liability context. Societa Per Azioni De Navigazione Italia v. City of Los Angeles, supra; In-Home Supportive Services v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. 152 Cal. App. 3d 720, 728 [199 Cal. Rptr. 697, 701] (1984); Metropolitan Water Dist. of Southern California v. Superior Court 32 Cal.4th 491, 498 [9 Cal.Rptr.3d 857, 861, 84 P.3d 966, 970] (2004); Bowman v. Wyatt 186 Cal. App. 4th 286, 299 [111 Cal. Rptr. 3d 787, 796] (2010). Restatement § 220 defines the term "servant" as "a person employed to perform services in the affairs of another and who with respect to the physical conduct in the performance of the services is subject to the other's control or right to control."

Relying on § 220 of the Restatement, the Supreme Court held in Societa Per Azioni De Navigazione Italia v. City of Los Angeles, supra, that the City of Los Angeles Could be held liable as a dual employer for the negligence of a ship's pilot. That Court specifically held: ""Where general and special employers share control of an employee's work, a 'dual employment' arises, and the general employer remains concurrently and simultaneously, jointly and severally liable [to third parties] for the employee's torts." (... see generally, Rest.2d Agency, § 220 ...)) 31 Cal.3d at 460 [183 Cal.Rptr. 51at 59]).

(B) As acknowledged by the Court of Appeal, the Legislative history of the FSP Act is silent on the issue of the CHP's liability as a special employer. That silence is an important indication that the Legislature did not intend to discard longstanding governmental tort liability rules in the context of the FSP.

Neither the CHP nor the Court of Appeal has been able to cite any statute or piece of Legislative history in support of the argument that the Legislature did not intend for the CHP to be liable as a special employer in the FSP program.⁹ That inability is easily explained by the fact that there is

⁹ The Court of Appeal candidly described the FSP's legislative history as "quite short" and acknowledges that the it "mainly focuses on funding for the program and on allocating these funds." (Opinion at 5).

nothing in the FSP or its Legislative history which even remotely suggests either (1) that the CHP should not be held liable as a special employer of tow truck drivers engaged in the FSP program, or (2) that the Legislature intended that the general rules and definitions of the Tort Claims Act (California Government Code § 800 et seq.) should not apply to the CHP in the FSP context.

From the Petitioners' perspective, then, there is no ambiguity in any of the FSP statutes. The Legislature's silence on the subject of modifying the ordinary principles of governmental tort liability is itself an expression of the Legislature's intent not to modify those principles.

- (C) When the FSP was enacted, the Legislature was, as a matter of law, deemed to be aware of existing law which supported the imposition of special employer liability upon the CHP. The Legislature's silence on the subject evidences its intent not to modify that law.
- (1) <u>Caution must temper judicial creativity in the face</u> of legislative or regulatory silence.

The holding in the Opinion is premised on the repeated use of the term "employer" in FSP statutes. (Opinion at 6-7) While that term certainly appears in a number of FSP statutes, none of those statutes even remotely

suggests that the Legislature intended to either (1) ban the application of the special employment doctrine to the CHP (or any other party), or (2) address the tort liability of any FSP participant. "Accordingly, caution must temper judicial creativity in the face of legislative or regulatory silence." <u>Drennan v. Security Pac. Nat. Bank</u> (1981) 28 Cal.3d 764, 773 [170 Cal.Rptr. 904, 909]

(2) The Tort Claims Act had recognized the special employer liability of public entities for decades before the enactment of the FSP.

The FSP was enacted in 1992. By that time, the Tort Claims Act, which was enacted "[]in 1963 . . . in order to provide a comprehensive codification of the law of governmental liability and immunity in California," Farmers Insurance Group v. County of Santa Clara (1995) 11 Cal.4th 992, 1001 [47 Cal.Rptr.2d 478, 484], was twenty-nine years old. Thus, for twenty nine years before the FSP was enacted, California Government Code § 810.2 defined the term "employee" as including the term "servant" for purposes of governmental tort liability.

For almost two decades before the Tort Claims Act, and for almost five decades before the FSP Act, California had been following the Restatement of Agency § 220 definition of the term "servant." Isenberg v.

California Employment Stabilization Commission (1947) 30 Cal.2d 34, 39 [180 P.2d 11, 15]; California Compensation Ins. Co. v. Industrial Accident Commission (1948) 86 Cal.App.2d 861, 867 [195 P.2d 880, 884]¹⁰ As noted above, Section 220 defines the term "servant" to include someone "employed to perform services in the affairs of another and who with respect to the physical conduct in the performance of the services is subject to the other's control or right to control."

(3) <u>Long before the enactment of the FSP, the Courts</u> of this State applied special employer liability to public entities.

"A statute will be construed in light of the common law unless the Legislature clearly and unequivocally indicates otherwise." <u>Arnold v. Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co.</u> (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 580, 586 [135 Cal.Rptr.3d 213, 218] The application of that principle here compels the conclusion that the Court of Appeal's decision is erroneous.

Twenty years before the Legislature's 1992 adoption of the FSP Act, the Courts of this state had held that governmental entities are subject to liability as special employers. Back in 1971, the Supreme Court applied the doctrine to a school district in County of Los Angeles v. Workers' Comp.

¹⁰ See, also, Empire Star Mines Co. v. California Employment Commission (1946) 28 Cal.2d 33, 44 [168 P.2d 686, 692] overruled on other grounds by People v. Sims (1982) 32 Cal.3d 468 [186 Cal.Rptr. 77]

Appeals Bd. (1981) 30 Cal.3d 391, 406 [179 Cal.Rptr. 214, 222, 637 P.2d 681, 689] ("[T]he County was the general employer. It sent respondent to work for the District, the special employer.")

Navigazione Italia v. City of Los Angeles 31 Cal.3d 446, 461 [183 Cal.Rptr. 51, 60, 645 P.2d 102, 111] (1982), the California Supreme Court had no hesitation in relying upon Restatement § 220 as a basis for imposing special employment liability upon a public entity. Addressing special employer liability for the negligence of a ship's pilot (Peterson), the Supreme Court held: "Since Petersen simultaneously served two employers-the City and the Shipowner-at the time of the collision, under the doctrine of respondent superior both masters would be jointly and severally liable to third parties for his negligence."

Eight years before the FSP was adopted, the Court of Appeal decided In-Home Supportive Services v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (1984) 152

Cal.App.3d 720, 732 [199 Cal.Rptr. 697, 704], in which the dual (joint or special) employment doctrine was applied to the State Department of Social Services in the context of the Welfare & Institutions Code § 12300 et seq. program that paid for domestic services. Six years before the FSP was enacted, the special employment doctrine was again recognized as

applicable to public entities in <u>In-Home Supportive Services v. Workers'</u>
Comp. Appeals Bd. 152 Cal. App. 3d 720, 728 [199 Cal. Rptr. 697, 701]

(1984).

The Legislature's awareness of those authorities when the FSP was enacted, coupled with the silence of the FSP on the issue of special employment liability/governmental tort liability is evidence of Legislative intent not to vary the existing law on the subject.

(D) <u>Under well established principles of statutory</u>

construction, the silence of the Legislative history and statutes of the

FSP compel the conclusion that the Government Code definition of

"employee" and/or the common law definition of that term apply for

purposes of tort liability in the FSP setting.

By way of background, the FSP Act was adopted in 1992 (Stats.1992, c. 1109 (A.B.3346)). By then, the law of this state had recognized the special employment liability of governmental entities for decades. Since the "Legislature 'is deemed to be aware of statutes and judicial decisions already in existence, and to have enacted or amended a statute in light thereof," People v. McGuire (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 687, 694 [18 Cal.Rptr.2d 12, 15], it follows that the Legislature's silence evidences an intent not to modify existing law.

As noted in the Opinion, several statutes within the FSP use the term "employer. Omitted from the Court of Appeal's Opinion, however, is the fact that FSP statutes also use the term "employee," but do not define that critical term.

While every word of a statute must be presumed to have been used for a purpose, it is also the case that every word excluded from a statute must be presumed to have been excluded for a purpose." Arden Carmichael, Inc. v. County of Sacramento (2001) 93 Cal.App.4th 507, 516 [113 Cal.Rptr.2d 248, 254] Thus, when a statute contains a term but does not define that term, the common law definition of the term in question controls. In language tailor made for this situation, the Supreme Court in Metropolitan Water Dist. of Southern California v. Superior Court, 32 Cal.4th 491, 500, 9 Cal.Rptr.3d 857, 862-63, 84 P.3d 966, 971 (2004) held:

"In this circumstance—a statute referring to employees without defining the term—courts have generally applied the common law test of employment . . . <u>People v. Palma</u> (1995) 40 Cal.App.4th 1559, 1565–1566, 48 Cal.Rptr.2d 334 ['as a general rule, when "employee" is used in a statute without a definition, the

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