## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

MAYRA ANTONIA ALVARADO, AN INDIVIDUAL, APPEARING THROUGH HER CONSERVATORS LUIS ALVARADO AND MARIA ALVARADO, AND DYLAN HARBORD-MOORE, A MINOR APPEARING THROUGH KYLE HARBORD-MOORE, HIS GUARDIAN AD LITEM,

Petitioners,

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, acting by and through the Department of the California Highway Patrol,

Respondents.

No. S214221

SUPREME COURT

DEC 20 2013

Prank A. McGurre Clerk

Deputy

Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 30-2008-00116111 The Honorable Robert J. Moss, Judge (Dept. C-23, (657) 622-5223)

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal held that as a matter of law the CHP is not the "special employer" for purposes of vicarious liability of tow truck drivers employed by independent contractors in the Freeway Service Patrols (FSP) program. This holding is correct and there is no basis for review in this case, as the decision neither creates a conflict in decisions nor leaves an important issue of law undecided.

The Court of Appeal matter was a writ of mandate proceeding brought by the CHP to seek review of the trial court's denial of its motion for summary judgment. In the underlying case, plaintiff Mayra Alvarado suffered severe injuries on January 16, 2008 when her car was rear-ended by a FSP tow truck contracted by the Orange County Transportation Authority (OCTA). Ms. Alvarado's minor son Dylan Harbord-Moore was a passenger in her vehicle and suffered less serious injuries.

In the resulting personal injury action the plaintiffs alleged that CHP was vicariously liable for the tow truck driver's negligence on the theory that CHP was a "special employer" by virtue of CHP's extensive field supervision of the drivers. This was the sole theory remaining at the time CHP moved for summary judgment.

The FSP program was created by statute. (Sts. & Hy. Code, §§ 2560, et seq.) Tow truck companies in this program contract with local transportation agencies to patrol urban freeways, provide emergency roadside assistance and towing for disabled vehicles in order to reduce traffic congestion. By statute, the program is jointly administered by CHP, the Department of Transportation, and local regional transportation agencies. (Sts. & Hy. Code, § 2561, subd. (c).) The roles of the partner

agencies is outlined in the enacting statutes, and in related provisions in the Vehicle Code. (Veh. Code, §§ 2430-2435.6.)

In denying CHP's motion for summary judgment, the trial court certified the following controlling question of law for interlocutory review under Code of Civil Procedure section 166.1: "[W]hether, in light of the statutory nature of the [FSP] program, the CHP can be a 'special employer' of a tow truck driver whose general employer is a towing contractor engaged to provide services in the FSP program as a result of the CHP's right to control the activities of FSP tow truck drivers in the performance of FSP duties." (Opinion, p.p. 3-4.)

CHP petitioned for writ of mandate. After full briefing and argument the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court, holding:

Our examination of the relevant statutes in the Streets and Highways Code and the Vehicle Code persuades us that the Legislature intended to distinguish between the people and companies employing tow truck drivers in the FSP program ("employers") on the one hand and the CHP on the other. There was, therefore, no legislative intent to make the CHP liable as a special employer of FSP tow truck drivers for the drivers' negligence. (Opinion, p. 2.)

The Petition does not identify any basis for review of this holding. This Court should deny the petition for review.

### WHY THIS CASE IS INAPPROPRIATE FOR REVIEW

# I. THE OPINION EVIDENCES NO LACK OF UNIFORMITY IN THE LAW OR UNSETTLED IMPORTANT LEGAL ISSUE.

The issue on a petition for review is not whether the petitioner believes the Court of Appeal reached the result wrong in this instance, which it did not, but whether this Court's intervention is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (C.R.C. Rule 8.500(b)(1).) The issue is whether the Opinion evidences a lack of uniformity of decision or whether there is an unsettled important question of law. Neither is the case here.

There is no lack of uniformity of decision. Although this case decided an issue of first impression, by definition such a decision does not create a conflict with existing law or leave unsettled an important question of law. Only if a second court were to address the same issue could such a lack of uniformity arise. Plaintiffs do not identify any specific appellate decision which on its face conflicts with the Opinion in this case.

Similarly there is no important unsettled legal issue presented by this case. The Court of Appeal resolved the question concerning the intent of the Legislature with respect to CHP liability for FSP contract tow truck drivers. The opinion resolved a narrow issue of statutory construction. Plaintiffs cannot point to any actual important legal issue left unresolved by the opinion.

The petition emphasizes the numerous appellate opinions which have found public entities had a "special employment" relationship with contract workers or "borrowed" employees. (See e.g., *Kowalski v. Shell Oil Co.* (1979) 23 Cal. 3d 168,174-75, *In-Home Supportive Services v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1984) 152 Cal.App.3d 720, 728.) Plaintiffs baldly state "in this case the Court of Appeal concluded that existing law should be cast aside." (Petition, p. 7.) The Court of Appeal stated no such thing. Instead, the Court determined that the legislative intent was to distinguish the CHP from the "employer" of the tow truck drivers, such that the common law rule did not apply as a matter of law.

Plaintiffs argue that the opinion conflicts with cases that have held a common-law definition of "employee" should control where the statutory definition is "circular". (*Metropolitan Water District of Southern California v. Superior Court* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 491, 500.) True, the Court

of Appeal concluded that the definition of "employer" in Vehicle Code section 2430 as a "person or entity which employs tow truck drivers" was essentially circular. (Opinion, p. 6.) The opinion did not rest there, however, and does not conflict with the general rule set forth in Metropolitan Water District. The Court discussed in detail the other applicable statutes which "draw a clear distinction between the CHP on the one hand and an 'employer' on the other hand." (Opinion, p. 6.) The Court explained:

For example, the CHP may enter into contracts with "employers" for freeway service patrol operations (Veh. Code, § 2435, subd. (a)), and the CHP, in conjunction with CalTrans, is responsible for establishing minimum training standards for "employers." The CHP must provide training for all employers, and the "employers" are required to attend training sessions. (Veh. Code, §§ 2436.5, 2436.7.) The tow truck drivers are required to inform both their "employers" and the CHP if they are arrested for or convicted of certain crimes. (Id., § 2430.3, subd. (a).) The CHP must obtain employers' fingerprints and verify that the employers have valid California driver's licenses. (Id., § 2431, subd. (a)(1) & (3).) The employer must maintain lists of eligible and non-eligible drivers at its place of business for inspection by the CHP. (Id., § 2430.5, subd. (c).) Vehicle Code section 2432.1 provides for penalties for employers that fail to comply with the requirements of the law on tow truck drivers or the emergency roadside assistance statutes; they may lose their right to participate in the freeway service patrol operation.

(Opinion, p. 6.)

The Court's opinion rested on its interpretation of legislative intent, as expressed in the FSP program. There is nothing in the opinion which conflicts with existing case law or leaves an important legal issue unresolved.

# II. THE OPINION SIMPLY INTERPRETS THE INTENT OF THE LEGISLATURE IN THE FSP STATUTES, WHICH DOES NOT REQUIRE REVIEW BY THIS COURT

The Opinion takes as a starting point the fundamental rule of statutory interpretation:

When interpreting statutes, the Legislature's intent should be determined and given effect. Legislative intent is generally determined from the plain or ordinary meaning of the statutory language. The statute's every word and provision should be given effect so that no part is useless, deprived of meaning or contradictory. Interpretation of the statute should be consistent with the purpose of the statute and statutory framework.

[Citations.] ... [¶] Where the meaning of statutory language is uncertain, rules of construction or legislative history may aid in determining legislative intent. [Citations.] Even if the statutory language is clear, a court is not prohibited from considering legislative history in determining whether the literal meaning is consistent with the purpose of the statute. [Citations.] In enacting a statute, the Legislature is deemed to have been aware of existing statutes and judicial interpretations. [Citation.]" (Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 101, 109-110.)

(Opinion, pp. 5-6.)

To adopt Plaintiffs' argument would lead to the absurd conclusion that the Legislature inadvertently imposed vicarious liability on the CHP for the negligence of contract truck drivers, even though (1) there is no reflection of such intent in the statutes or the legislative history; (2) under the statutes CHP does not even have responsibility for choosing tow truck contractors (Sts. & Hy. Code, § 2562.2, subd. (c)(1)), (3) CHP does not have financial control over the program, which instead is funded by

Caltrans and the local transportation agencies, and (4) as emphasized by the Court of Appeal, the Legislature repeatedly distinguished the CHP from the tow truck company "employers". (Veh. Code, §§ 2430.3, subd. (a), 2430.5, subd. (c), 2431, subd. (a)(1) & (3), 2432, 2435, subd. (a), 2436.5, and 2436.7).

The Opinion is well-founded upon established rules of statutory construction. There is no compelling basis for review.

### CONCLUSION

As discussed above, there are no grounds for review in this court. The petition should be denied.